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Issues Presented 

I. 

WHETHER TRIAL DEFENSE COUNSEL WERE 
INEFFECTIVE IN PREPARING FOR TRIAL BY                                                              
(1) FAILING TO REASONABLY INVESTIGATE 
APPELLANT’S TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY (TBI) (2) 
FAILING TO REASONABLY PRESENT EVIDENCE OF TBI 
FOR FINDINGS AND SENTENCE AND (3) FAILING TO 
INVESTIGATE AND PREPARE A CASE IN MITIGATION? 
 

II. 

WHETHER THE APPELLATE JUDGE WHO AUTHORED 
THE OPINION IN APPELLANT’S CASE WAS PRECLUDED 
FROM DOING SO BECAUSE SHE HAD RETIRED FROM THE 
BENCH WHEN THE OPINION WAS EFFECTIVE AND HELD 
A POSITION PRESENTING A CONFLICT?   

Statement of Statutory Jurisdiction 

The Army Court of Criminal Appeals (Army Court) had jurisdiction over 

this matter pursuant to Article 66, Uniform Code of Military Justice [UCMJ], 10 

U.S.C. § 866 (2022).  This Honorable Court has jurisdiction over this matter under 

Article 67(a)(3), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 867 (a)(3) (2021). 

Statement of the Case 

On December 16, 2020, a military judge sitting as a general court-martial 

convicted Appellant, Private First Class (PFC) Jerome J. Forrest, contrary to his 

plea, of one specification of unpremeditated murder in violation of Article 118, 
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UCMJ, 10. U.S.C. § 918 (2018).1  (R. at 1206; Charge Sheet).  Later that same 

day, the military judge sentenced Appellant to a dishonorable discharge and 

confinement for life.  (R. at 1273).    

On November 22, 2024, the Army Court of Criminal Appeals rendered its 

opinion, affirming the findings and sentence.  (Appendix A).  

Statement of Facts 

One week after Appellant suffered a traumatic brain injury (TBI), he killed 

his wife.   

On December 10, 2018, Appellant was seriously injured in a car accident. 

(App. Ex. III).  He was administered level 1 trauma treatment, which is the highest 

level of treatment available.  His Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS)2 score was 7, 

 
 

1 The military judge found appellant guilty, except the words “his hands and” Of 
the excepted words, Not Guilty.  Of the Charge, Guilty.  The final specification to 
which appellant was found guilty reads:  
 

In that Private First Class Jerome J. Forrest, U.S. Army, did, at or near Fort 
Campbell, Kentucky, on or about 17 December 2018, murder Mrs. D.F., by 
means of striking her on the face and head with blunt objects. 
 

(R. 1206). 
 
2 The Glascow Coma Scale measures head trauma, with a score 3-8 indicating 
severe trauma.  Shobhit Jain & Lindsay M. Iverson, Glascow Coma Scale, 
STATPEARLS PUBLISHING, June 12, 2023. 
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indicating he suffered a severe head injury along with a broken nose.  Although 

Appellant received a computed technology (C.T.) scan, that scan did not reveal any 

acute intracranial changes and no additional brain scans or tests were conducted on 

Appellant in the hospital.  (Pp. Ex. III).  He was released from the Nashville area 

hospital with a prescription for Tylenol.  (App. Ex. III).  In the few days following 

the accident, Appellant complained of body aches resulting from the accident.  His 

medical providers on Fort Campbell prescribed Percocet for the pain.  (DuBay R. 

at 348).  Instead of being placed on quarters for rest, Appellant was tasked with 

duty as Charge of Quarters (CQ) and had been awake for over twenty-four hours 

when he killed his wife.  (R. at 1021).     

On December 17, 2018, Appellant killed his wife in the kitchen of the 

family’s on-post home at Fort Campbell, Kentucky.  (R. at 547).  This followed an 

argument over the cleanliness of a closet in the home.  When police arrived, 

Appellant was sitting in a vehicle in the garage.  (R. at 537-38). 

According to experts who testified at the Dubay hearing, Appellant suffered 

a severe head injury and, according to the military’s expert on TBI, he “[d]efinitely 

suffered TBI” days before he killed his wife.  (Dubay R. 225-26; 229-30; 240).    
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Reason to Grant the Petition    

The traumatic brain injury Appellant suffered in the accident and its 

potential impact on the specific intent crime for which Appellant was convicted, 

unpremeditated murder, was never presented as evidence before the fact finder for 

either findings or sentencing.  The fact finder was never informed TBI could have 

affected Appellant’s ability to form the requisite intent for the crime. 

The reason for this failure?  Appellant’s trial defense counsel failed to 

adequately investigate the injury and to determine its extent, failed to inform the 

sanity board of the extent of that injury, and failed to present evidence of 

Appellant’s head injury in mitigation.  Indeed, the trial defense counsel who 

represented Appellant at trial failed to consult with any experts about the injury 

and its impact on Appellant’s ability to form the requisite intent for the charged 

offense and its potential for mitigation. 

Appellant’s trial defense counsel also failed to investigate Appellant’s 

background or interview any childhood friends or military witnesses who would 

have testified on Appellant’s behalf.  Instead of presenting information about 

Appellant’s head injury or the testimony of childhood friends and fellow service 

members, defense counsel presented the testimony of five family members, 

testimony that covered only twenty-seven pages of transcript in a case where the 
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government was seeking life without the possibility of parole. (R. 1262).  Given 

the gravity of the charged offense, offering the testimony of TBI and testimony 

from childhood friends in mitigation may have lessened Appellant’s sentence, but 

counsel failed to do so.    

Additionally, the Army Court’s handling of Appellant’s case was 

procedurally flawed.  The judge who authored the opinion in Appellant’s case was 

effectively retired and working for this Court when the opinion she authored was 

issued. 

I. 

WHETHER TRIAL DEFENSE COUNSEL WERE 
INEFFECTIVE IN PREPARING FOR TRIAL BY                                                              
(1) FAILING TO REASONABLY INVESTIGATE 
APPELLANT’S TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY (TBI) (2) 
FAILING TO REASONABLY PRESENT EVIDENCE OF TBI 
FOR FINDINGS AND SENTENCE AND (3) FAILING TO 
INVESTIGATE AND PREPARE A CASE IN MITIGATION? 
 
The Traumatic Brain Injury 

According to experts who testified at the Dubay hearing, Appellant suffered 

a severe head injury and, according to the military’s expert on TBI, he “[d]efinitely 

suffered TBI.”  (Dubay R. 225-26; 229-30; 240).  Dr. Lewis French, who directs 

all the clinical and research programs on TBI at Walter Reed National Military 

Medical Center, testified Appellant indeed suffered a TBI in the accident a week 
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before he killed his wife.  (DuBay R. 229).3  His review of Appellant’s medical 

records indicated a high-speed vehicle collision and a broken nose caused “a 

physiological disruption of the brain,” as indicated by Appellant’s GCS score of 7 

on his arrival at the emergency room.  (DuBay R. at 230).   

Dr. French testified Appellant’s normal computed technology (C.T.) scan at 

the hospital did not rule out a TBI.  (DuBay R. at 231).  “[I]t is not uncommon for 

a person to have a clean head C.T. scan and still have suffered a traumatic brain 

injury.”  The purpose of the C.T. scan in emergency care is to determine if the 

patient has internal bleeding in the brain, not to diagnose a TBI.  (Dubay R. at 

232).  Dr. French testified that a magnetic resonance imaging test (MRI) might 

detect a TBI, but even that level of imaging is unlikely to uncover the subtle brain 

changes indicating a TBI, especially nine months after the injury.  (Dubay R. 232).  

According to Dr. French, Appellant’s brain injury was “complete” when he 

presented to the hospital.  (DuBay R. at 233). 

 
 

3 Dr. French is the head of the congressionally mandated Traumatic Brain Injury 
Center of Excellence at Walter Reed.   Traumatic brain injury has been a focus of 
military health since 1992.  https://www.health.mil/Military-Health-
Topics/Centers-of-Excellence/Traumatic-Brain-Injury-Center-of-Excellence 
 

https://www.health.mil/Military-Health-Topics/Centers-of-Excellence/Traumatic-Brain-Injury-Center-of-Excellence
https://www.health.mil/Military-Health-Topics/Centers-of-Excellence/Traumatic-Brain-Injury-Center-of-Excellence
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Dr. Paul Montalbano, the director of the post-doctoral fellowship program in 

forensic psychology at Walter Reed, testified the C.T. scans taken of Appellant’s 

brain occurred shortly after the accident, and may not reflect the extent of the 

damage to Appellant’s brain.  (DuBay R. 212; Defense Appellate Exhibit (D.A.E.) 

A at 3).4  “And the brain can continue to swell often 3 to 5 days after a significant 

head trauma.”  (DuBay R. 212).  Dr. Montalbano also believed that even if 

Appellant did not have TBI he may have suffered from “other types of deficits in 

brain functioning that are not necessarily, you know, classified as TBI.”  (DuBay 

R. at 214).   

Dr. French noted Appellant’s headache had not resolved within three to five 

days after the accident.  (DuBay R. at 241).  To Dr. French that indicated the 

 
 

4 Dr. Montalbano and other experts in forensic psychiatry at Walter Reed are 
available for consultation to all military trial defense counsel.  (DuBay R. 209).   
 

We get calls from military attorneys throughout the world about 
different forensic referral issues are asking, you know, do you think, 
you know, a forensic psychiatrist or psychologist would be useful in 
this particular case?  How would you evaluate?  You know, the accused, 
you know, or just getting feedback on different forensic issues to see 
whether an expert is indicated in that particular case. 
 

(DuBay R. 209).  Appellant’s trial defense counsel never contacted Dr. Montalbano 
or his colleagues.  Defense Appellate Exhibit A at 3. 
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headache was “of sufficient severity that whoever the provider was in the clinic 

thought . . . it needed to be addressed.”  (DuBay R. 241). 

Dr. French also noted prescribing Percocet for a serious head injury was not 

“the standard of care.”  (Dubay R. 241-42).  He testified the standard of care was to 

prescribe something not containing a narcotic.  (Dubay R. 242).  “Well, I mean, 

you try to give somebody none-narcotic [sic.] pain medication.”  (Dubay R. 242).  

Not only can narcotics cause what Dr. French called “rebound headaches.”  

(DuBay R. 242).  They have a more sinister side-effect.  (DuBay R. 242).  “So 

people with mood problems potentially, or you know, cognitive dysfunction or 

other things like that, a narcotic is just going to make those things worse.”  (DuBay 

R. 242).         

It would make things like the cognitive functioning worse off.  If a 
person’s having problems with attention, memory and you dole them 
with a narcotic, it makes those -- it can make those things worse. If a 
person has -- is having, you know, more kind of mood problems, 
irritability, sadness, whatever, which, again, sometimes people have 
after these injuries, it can affect those things, too.  It also artificially 
changes sleep.  So sleep dysfunction is fairly common.  Narcotics don’t, 
I mean, they’ll make you go to sleep, but they don’t induce that kind of 
sleep that we typically want.  So, you know, there are concerns in a 
number of different areas that you would worry about with pain 
products.  
 

(DuBay R. 243). 
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 Appellant was the subject of a sanity board, per Rule for Courts-Martial 706.  

Dr. Robert McKenzie, a psychiatrist, was the president of Appellant’s sanity board.  

(DuBay R. 178).  From what Dr. McKenzie could remember, Appellant’s sanity 

board was not “anything outside of that norm referenced to this case.”  (Dubay R. 

179-80).   Dr. McKenzie did not receive any documents or have any conversations 

with Appellant’s defense counsel.  (DuBay R. 180-81).   

At the Dubay hearing, when shown Appellant’s medical records from 

Skyline Medical Center stating Appellant had suffered a TBI, Dr. McKenzie 

testified he did not remember reviewing them.  (DuBay R. 181-8).  He also noted 

those records were not referenced in the R.C.M. 706 report.  (DuBay R. 181-82).  

The records referenced on the R.C.M. 706 report were Appellant’s medical records 

from military facilities only.  (Dr. McKenzie reviewed “Electronic Medical 

Records (AHLTA)).  The records containing the information about the TBI—the 

ones Dr. McKenzie did not see prior to the DuBay—are from Tristar Skyline 

Medical Center, a civilian hospital, in Nashville, Tennessee.  (DuBay R. 59).  Dr. 

McKenzie testified that Appellant mentioned the accident, but Dr. McKenzie was 

unaware of the extent of the head trauma Appellant suffered.  (DuBay R. 185, 187, 

189).  In other words, contrary to the Army Court opinion, Appellant’s TBI was 

not factored into the Board result.  (See Appendix A at 16-17).       
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Dr. McKenzie testified, had he been aware of the TBI in conjunction with 

the Percocet usage, he would have added additional steps to the sanity board 

inquiry.  (DuBay R. 185-87).  In other words, he would have conducted a modified 

analysis on Appellant’s mental health.  He would have examined the discharge 

diagnosis to determine what impact the GSI of 7 would have on his evaluation and 

would have noted that in the 706 form.  (Dubay R. 186).  Dr. McKenzie would 

have also consulted with a psychologist doing the psychometric testing to make 

sure the TBI was included in the testing.  (DuBay R. 186).  This would have been 

significant to “expand or contract the panel of tools” that the psychologists would 

use.  (DuBay R. 186).   

Furthermore, had he known of the TBI, Dr. McKenzie would have consulted 

with the psychologist to determine whether the Board needed to do anything 

“outside of mainstream diagnostic clarification.”  (DuBay R. 186).  Dr. McKenzie 

would also have visited the clinic where Appellant was treated to review the 

records with the treating clinicians.  (DuBay R. 186-87).  Additionally, Dr. 

McKenzie would have discussed the case with Appellant’s behavioral health 

provider to establish Appellant’s mental condition before and after the accident.  

(DuBay R. 187).  “[W]as there a significant difference in his baseline presentation 
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from the six or seven groups [Appellant attended] prior to the one a few days, you 

know, between the accident and the incidents?”  (DuBay R. 187).  

How did the sanity board fail to consider TBI?  The short answer is that 

Appellant’s defense counsel never brought TBI to the board’s attention.  Indeed, 

the three lawyers representing Appellant never talked to the board about TBI or 

anything else.  (DuBay R. 38; 77; 95).  Nor did counsel otherwise make the board 

aware of any concern about Appellant’s TBI.  (DuBay R. 180).        

As also established at the DuBay hearing, trial defense counsel who argued 

the motion never talked to Dr. Galusha, the proffered defense expert.  (Dubay R. 

203; 310-312).   But then again Appellant’s trial defense counsel never talked to 

any medical professional.  (DuBay R. 14, 15, 18, 57, 72-73, 77, 310-12, 317, 324, 

326).  On September 17, 2019, the trial counsel emailed the defense counsel and 

asked if Appellant requested TBI screening, but Appellant’s counsel told the 

government Appellant did not need the screening.  (App. Ex. XV).  On October 25, 

2019, the military judge denied the defense’s motion, citing, among other reasons, 

that “the government offered to do additional TBI screening of the accused and 

defense declined additional TBI testing.”  (R. at 185).  

What did counsel do?  Captain (CPT) Mark Jensen reviewed Appellant’s 

medical records and requested a neuropsychologist be assigned to the defense 
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team.  (DuBay R. 13).  But CPT Jensen never gave Appellant’s Skyline medical 

report to any doctor to review.  (DuBay R. 14).  He claimed that Dr. McKenzie had 

a copy of the medical record (Dubay R. 14), but that was refuted by Dr. McKenzie.  

(DuBay R. 181-82; 185-87).  And, as previously noted, CPT Jensen never talked to 

Dr. McKenzie.  (DuBay R. 18).  In fact, CPT Jensen never talked to any of the 

physicians who treated Appellant for TBI, nor did he discuss the accident with 

police or insurance companies.  (DuBay R. 15).  He never even saw a photograph 

of Appellant’s totaled car.  (DuBay R. 15).    

Although CPT Jensen had concern about Appellant taking Percocet at the 

time of the killing, he assumed it would not change the result of the trial.  (DuBay 

R. 24 and 187).  “I assumed at the time the result would be the same.”  (DuBay R. 

24).  But it would not have been the same.  Colonel McKenzie testified the 706 

board would have factored Appellant’s fatigued and Percocet sedated state into its 

analysis had it been aware of TBI.  (DuBay R. at 187).   

Captain Jensen testified he received Dr. Galusha’s name from another 

counsel who had recently defended a murder case.  (DuBay R. 33).  Captain Jensen 

claimed he called Dr. Galusha, but he could not recall the conversation.  (DuBay R. 

33.)  However, CPT Jensen was at the very least curious about Appellant’s TBI.  

The two other defense counsel who tried his case were not. 
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On July 24, 2019, the Convening Authority denied Appellant’s request to 

appoint Dr. Galusha to the defense team as an expert consultant in the field of 

Forensic Psychology and Neuropsychology.  (App. Ex. X).  Captain Jensen filed 

the motion to compel Dr. Galusha’s appointment.  (App. Ex. III).  He requested Dr. 

Galusha for two reasons:   

(1) As a neuropsychologist to examine the accused and 
determine if he suffered from a traumatic brain, 
concussion, or other injury the week prior to the death of 
his wife that might have affected his cognition, judgment, 
or impulse control.  Additionally, she would help the 
defense team understand whether the condition of 
appellant’s brain could provide extenuating or mitigating 
evidence.   

(2) As a forensic psychologist to assist the defense in 
presenting a robust mitigation case based on the historical 
psychological background of appellant.  She would do this 
by helping the defense team obtain and review information 
from appellant’s past, help them conduct mitigation 
interview’s regarding appellant’s upbringing and other 
factual circumstances, and lend her training and expertise 
in helping them compile a mitigation case to argue to the 
trier-of-fact.   

(App. Ex. III).  Captain Jensen withdrew from Appellant’s case before the argument 

on the motion. 

At an Article 39(a) hearing, which included Appellant’s newly appointed 

counsel, the parties argued the motion to compel Dr. Galusha’s appointment.  (R. 

at 107).  Regarding the first stated reason for Dr. Galusha’s appointment, the 
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military judge asked the parties whether Appellant had been specifically evaluated 

for a traumatic brain injury (TBI), and whether anything would prevent that 

evaluation from taking place.  (R. at 107).  Defense counsel stated no additional 

TBI testing had been done, but it was their understanding additional testing, 

beyond the C.T. scan performed immediately after the accident, was necessary to 

determine the extent of Appellant’s head injury, and that Dr. Galusha’s 

appointment would help them understand what additional testing could and should 

be done.  (R. at 107-108, 112).  The military judge deferred her ruling, indicating 

that, prior to her granting the defense’s requested expert, Appellant needed to be 

“evaluated to determine whether he does have TBI.”  (R. at 120).   

But Dr. Galusha, who is a neuropsychologist with a specialty in forensic 

psychology, testified that she never discussed Appellant’s case with any of his 

attorneys.  Mr. Lawrence Willard, another of Appellant’s trial defense counsel, 

testified that he did not have any medical professional review Appellant’s medical 

records.  (DuBay R. 57).  Mr. Willard was aware that the medical records 

involving Appellant’s accident were from a civilian provider “off-post.”  (DuBay 

R. 59).  Mr. Willard testified that his review of the records did not show a brain 

injury.  (DuBay R. 68).  In his affidavit, Mr. Willard claimed that Dr. Galusha 

“would have conceded there was no evidence of a head injury,” but Mr. Willard  
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never talked to Dr. Galusha, and thus had no idea what she would say about the 

head injury or anything else.  (DuBay R. 72-73).  Mr. Willard also testified that he 

and Major (MAJ) Dan Hill, Appellant’s other counsel, told Appellant there was no 

evidence of TBI.  (DuBay R. 75).  “We told him that, looking at the documents, we 

did not believe there was [TBI].”  DuBay R. 75).  Mr. Willard admitted that he 

never talked to Dr. McKenzie and never provided Appellant’s medical records to 

Dr. McKenzie.  (DuBay R. 77).      

MAJ Daniel Hill also never talked to Dr. Galusha about Appellant’s case.  

(DuBay R. 310.)  When asked if he ever had any medical expert look at 

Appellant’s medical records, MAJ Hill admitted he did not.  (DuBay R. 310.)  He 

also never talked to Dr. Galusha to prepare to argue the motion for her services.  

(DuBay R. 310, 324, 326).  MAJ Hill testified he “typically” does not call 

witnesses in support of his motions.  (DuBay R. 311, 312).  When asked why he 

believed no evidence of brain trauma existed even though Appellant’s medical 

records indicated he had a TBI, MAJ Hill again admitted he did not ask any 

experts to look at Appellant’s records.  (DuBay R. 311, 324, 326).  MAJ Hill 

testified he “never tried to reach to speak to an MD to understand . . . [or] 

attempted to have the records reviewed. . . .”  (DuBay R. 317).     
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Both Mr. Willard and MAJ Hill testified that, when presented with the 

opportunity for more testing, Appellant refrained from it.  (Dubay R. 73-74, 329-

30).  But both counsel were convinced from their uninformed review of the records 

that Appellant did not suffer from TBI.  (DuBay R. 67-68, 322-23).  Mr. Willard 

testified counsel never planned to present TBI evidence.  (Dubay R. 67-68).  He 

said the evidence would never rise to the level of an affirmative defense, so it was 

not relevant to findings.  (DuBay R. 67-8).              

Appellant was charged with murdering his wife.  (Charge Sheet).  Once 

convicted, he was facing a sentence of life in confinement without the possibility 

of parole.  Manual for Courts-Martial, United States (2016 ed.), pt. IV ¶ 56.d.(2).  

During the merits portion of the trial, the government presented extensive evidence 

in its efforts to prove Appellant’s guilt.  That evidence included the testimony of 

the victim’s children, who were present at the house when the murder took place 

(R. at 316, 391); two admissions made by Appellant--one to a medical provider 

and another in the presence of a prison guard (R. at 1017-19, 1028); DNA evidence 

showing Appellant was covered in his wife’s blood (R. at 718); expert witness 

testimony about blood spatter and the volume of blood found at the scene (R. at 

923); and other physical evidence presented by numerous members of law 

enforcement.   
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The government’s merits case lasted five days and involved the testimony of 

over twenty-five witnesses.  (R. at 245, 1031).  Appellant was found guilty of 

murder with the intent to kill.  (R. at 1206).  The defense, however, presented no 

evidence Appellant suffered a TBI days before the killing. 

A. The Case on the Merits 

As stated above, the government offered an extensive case on the merits, yet 

defense failed to assert any case on the merits, let alone one focusing on TBI.  (R. 

at 245, 1031).  Counsel should have explained how the TBI could have resulted in 

a diminished mens rea for the charged offense.  (DuBay R. at 512-15).  

The defense counsel’s failure to reasonably investigate Appellant’s TBI also 

resulted in a less than fully informed sanity board.  (DuBay R. at 181-182;185- 

187).  It left the defense unable to present evidence Appellant lacked the ability to 

form the requisite intent to kill required for murder per Article 118(2), UCMJ.  A 

fact finder, presented with a fully informed sanity board result, may have found 

Appellant committed manslaughter, not murder.  With a reasonable investigation, 

the entire tenor of the defense case would have changed to focus on the requisite 

mens rea for the charged offense.  With the focus on Appellant’s diminished 

mental state, he may have been convicted of the lesser included offense of 
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manslaughter, with fifteen years, not life without parole, as the maximum 

punishment.  

B. The Presentencing Case 

The defense’s presentencing case stood in stark juxtaposition to the 

government’s case.  The military judge reopened the court to announce findings at 

a little after 1300 on December 16, 2020.  (R. at 1206).  The entire presentencing 

case, both government and defense, was completed by a little after 1500, just over 

two hours later.  (R. at 1272).  The defense began its presentencing case on page 

1229 of the transcript, and rested twenty-seven pages later, on page 1257.  In total 

the defense called four witnesses:  Appellant’s mother, father, sister, and brother.  

(R. at 1229-1257).  The “lengthiest” witness testimony, that of Appellant’s sister, 

covered less than eight pages of transcript.  (R. at 1248-1255).  

C. Defense Preparation of Sentencing Witnesses 

 Appellant’s counsel did very little to prepare Appellant’s sentencing case.  

According to Mr. Willard, counsel prepared each one of the family members “for 

45 minutes to an hour” for their testimony.  (DuBay R. 164).  And counsel 

admitted they did not talk with any of the potential military witnesses or childhood 

friends.  (DuBay R. 276, 281, 346, 398, 406).  The defense did not present a single 
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military sentencing witness despite the fact there were service members willing to 

present character evidence on Appellant’s behalf.   

Sergeant (SGT) John Russino served in the same platoon as Appellant and 

remembers serving on charge of quarters (CQ) at the time the alleged crime took 

place.  Despite learning about what happened, SGT Russino still had positive 

things to say about Appellant as a Soldier and a person.  (DuBay R. 268).    

And as for what I could see as this young team leader at the time, he 
was -- he was a good overall soldier and he did everything he was 
supposed to do. Every time you asked him to do something, he was 
right there. He was the first one volunteer to do it. And you never had 
to tell him to come in on his days off. If you needed him to, he was the 
one volunteering to do it instead of being told to do it. 
 

(DuBay R. 268).  Staff Sergeant (SSG) Abrien Bouie testified he too would have 

testified on Appellant’s behalf.  (DuBay R. 261).  SSG Bouie remembered 

Appellant as a “great guy” and was surprised of the crime because Appellant was 

non-violent.  (DuBay R. 261).   

 A childhood friend of Appellant, Mr. Alexander Junior, would have testified 

for Appellant.  (DuBay R. 264-65).  

He’s very knowledgeable. He is friendly and he is – when he and me, 
we’re like, you know, always best friends, always seeing each other. 
He’s, you know, supportive. And that's about it. You know, he was 
creative and, you know, he -- he always had, like, an idea of life or some 
sort. 
 

(DuBay R. 265).                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
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Standard of Review 

Allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are reviewed de novo.  

United States v. Datavs, 71 M.J. 420, 424 (C.A.A.F. 2012); Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690 (1984). 

Law  

The Sixth Amendment guarantees an accused the right to the “effective 

assistance of counsel.”  United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 653-656 (1984).   

A. Ineffective Assistance Generally. 

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the appellant must 

show both deficient performance and prejudice.  Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687.  

Applying this standard “begin[s] with the presumption of competence announced 

in [Cronic].” United States v. Gooch, 69 M.J. 353, 361 (C.A.A.F. 2011). Then: 

This Court applies a three-part test to determine whether 
the presumption of competence has been overcome: 

 1. Are the allegations true, and, if so, is there any 
reasonable explanation for counsel’s actions? 

 2. If the allegations are true, did counsel’s 
performance fall measurably below expected standards? 

 3. Is there a reasonable probability that, absent the 
errors, there would have been a different outcome? 

Gooch, 69 M.J. at 362 (citing United States v. Polk, 32 M.J. 150, 153 (C.M.A. 

1991)). 
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Appellant need not “make an ‘outcome-determinative’ showing that 

‘counsel’s deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.’”  

United States v. Howard, 47 M.J. 104, 106 n.1 (C.A.A.F. 1997) (quoting 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693).  “[T]he result of a proceeding can be rendered 

unreliable, and hence the proceeding itself unfair, even if the errors of counsel 

cannot be shown by a preponderance of the evidence to have determined the 

outcome.”  Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694.  

Strategic, tactical, or other deliberate decisions of counsel must be 

objectively reasonable, based on counsel’s perspective at the time of the conduct in 

question.  United States v. Dewrell, 55 M.J. 131, 133 (C.A.A.F. 2001) (citing 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688; United States v. Marshall, 45 M.J. 268, 270 (C.A.A.F. 

1996)).  “The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether 

counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process 

that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” United States v. 

Mazza, 67 M.J. 470, 474 (C.A.A.F. 2009) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686). 

B. Ineffective Assistance in Investigation. 

 One of the ways in which defense counsel’s performance may be deficient is 

when defense counsel fails to investigate the facts of the case adequately.  United 

States v. Scott, 1987 CMA LEXIS 2557, *19 (C.M.A. 1987) (“A defense counsel 
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has the duty . . . to conduct a prompt investigation of the circumstances of the case 

and to explore all avenues leading to facts relevant to the merits of the case and the 

penalty in the event of conviction. . . . In many cases, pretrial investigation is the 

most critical stage of a lawyer's preparation.”) (internal citations omitted).  In 

preparing a defense, “counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to 

make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691; see also United States v. Sales, 56 M.J. 255, 258 

(C.A.A.F. 2002).  Failure to investigate a case includes the failure to obtain 

necessary expert assistance.  See United States v. Wean, 45 M.J. 461, 463 

(C.A.A.F. 1997).  A counsel’s failure to conduct sufficient investigation may 

violate the appellant's Sixth Amendment rights.  Sears v. Upton, 561 U.S. 945, 

949-50 (2010) (counsel were ineffective in investigating and failed to discover 

Sears had psychological impairment); United States v. Scott, 24 M.J. 186, 192-93 

(C.M.A. 1987) (failure to investigate alibi defense and prepare for trial was 

ineffective); Holsomback v. White, 133 F.3d 1382, 1387-89 (11th Cir. 1998) 

(holding that failure to conduct adequate investigation into medical evidence of 

sexual abuse was ineffective).   

Unlike cases involving tactical decisions made in the course of a trial, courts 

apply closer scrutiny when claims of ineffective assistance are based on a 
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counsel’s failure to investigate.  United States v. Clark, 55 M.J. 555, 560 (Army 

Ct. Crim. App. 2001).  This is because “‘investigation is an essential component of 

the adversary process,’ . . . that testing process generally will not function properly 

unless defense counsel has done some investigation.”  Scott, 24 M.J. 188 (quoting 

Wade v. Armontrout, 798 F.2d 304, 307 (8th Cir. 1986)). 

In United States v. Witt, 72 M.J. 727 (Air Force Ct. Crim. App. 2013), a case 

very similar to Appellant’s, Witt was injured in a motorcycle accident four months 

before he murdered.  72 M.J. at 758.  Witt’s counsel consulted with a psychologist, 

who downplayed the accident.  Id. at 759.  Post-trial investigation revealed Witt 

may have suffered a TBI.  Id. at 758. 

The Air Force Court found Witt’s counsel’s performance deficient because 

their decision to not investigate the head trauma was unreasonable.  Id.   

“[C]ompetent counsel must undertake a certain threshold of investigation by being 

reasonably diligent prior to making the strategic decision to ‘draw [the] line.’”  Id., 

citing Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 525 (2003).  See also Rompilla v. Beard, 

545 U.S. 374, 382 (2005).      

1. Sentencing Preparation. 

Multiple military appellate court cases have addressed situations where 

counsel failed to adequately investigate in preparation for sentencing.  In United 
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States v. Boone, 42 M.J. 308 (C.A.A.F. 1995), the sentencing case consisted solely 

of the appellant’s unsworn statement submitted through counsel.  In remanding the 

case, this Court stated, “We find no explanation and can discern no tactical reason 

from the record for the meager defense presentation,” and specifically noted the 

appellant’s honorable service in Saudi Arabia, lack of disciplinary actions in his 

personnel record, and the fact that no one from his chain of command or fellow 

soldiers testified to personal qualities or soldierly performance.  Id. at 314. 

On remand, the Army Court held that “appellant has sufficiently met his 

burden of showing ineffective assistance of counsel and prejudice so that he is 

entitled to remedial action by this court.”  United States v. Boone, 44 M.J. 742, 743 

(Army Ct. Crim. App. 1996), rev’d on other grounds, 49 M.J. 187 (C.A.A.F. 

1998).   

The record in Boone identified three potential sentencing witnesses in 

addition to the Boone’s uncle.  Id. at 744.  The Army Court found that although the 

three potential sentencing witnesses would not have described the appellant as an 

outstanding soldier, they would have added some value for rehabilitation.  Id. at 

746.  Furthermore, the Army Court found appellant’s uncle, who was “ready, 

willing, and able to testify on appellant’s behalf,” would have testified about 

knowing him from birth and described such details as “family background, 
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upbringing, attitude toward the Army, and the appellant’s normally peaceful 

nature.”  Id.  The Army Court ultimately determined that there was “a reasonable 

probability that the sentence would have been different but for counsel’s 

performance, and that probability is sufficient for us to question the reliability of 

and to undermine our confidence in the sentencing proceeding.”  Id.  See also 

United States v. Weathersby, 48 M.J. 668 (Army Ct. Crim. App. 1998).  

Counsel also failed to investigate in United States v. Saintaude, 56 M.J. 888 

(Army Ct. Crim. App. 2002).  The defense sentencing case in Saintaude consisted 

of a stipulation of expected testimony from the appellant’s mother, a short unsworn 

statement, and the appellant’s Personnel Qualification Record.  Id. at 896-97.  

Saintaude’s counsel, civilian defense counsel, submitted thirteen letters post-trial 

describing the appellant prior to and following his military career.  Additionally, 

Saintaude’s wife was present and willing to testify but was never called.  Id. at 

897.  The Army Court found that “appellant’s defense team erred during the 

sentencing phase by their failure to investigate appellant’s background for potential 

mitigation evidence and, thereafter, by their failure to present available mitigation 

evidence.”  Id.  The Army Court set aside the sentence.  
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2. Expert Assistance. 

A counsel’s failure to seek out expert assistance is treated as a failure to 

investigate.  Wean, 45 M.J. 461, 463-64 (C.A.A.F. 1997); United States v. Clark, 

55 M.J. 555, 560-61 (Army Ct. Crim. App. 2001).  Additionally, even when 

counsel does investigate the case, failure to present expert testimony itself can 

constitute ineffective assistance.  See United States v. Clark, 49 M.J. 98 (C.A.A.F. 

1998) (failure to call accident-reconstruction expert was ineffective 

representation); United States v. Grigoruk, 52 M.J. 312 (C.A.A.F. 2000) (failure to 

call a child psychologist met the threshold for a prima facie showing of ineffective 

representation).    

Appellant is not barred from presenting evidence in support of his claim that 

he lacked specific intent to kill at the time of his offense.  Ellis v. Jacob, 26 M.J. 

90, 93 (C.M.A. 1988).  ‘We have no doubt whatever that a psychiatrist is within 

his realm of expertise in describing the effects of sleep deprivation, et al., on the 

human mind.’  Id. at 94.  The use of expert testimony to show a mental disease or 

defect is entirely distinct from the use of such testimony to relieve a defendant of 

criminal responsibility based on the insanity defense or one of its variants, such as 

diminished capacity.  United States v. Pohlot, 827 F.2d 889, 890 (3d Cir. 1987).  

Even when the accused interposes the affirmative defense of lack of mental 
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responsibility, the prosecution must still sustain its initial burden of establishing, 

beyond a reasonable doubt, every element of the offense, including mens rea.  

United States v. Berri, 33 M.J. 337, 338 (C.A.A.F. 1991).  The burden of 

disproving elements of the offense never shifts to the defense.  Id.  In Berri, the 

court ordered a rehearing and held that the extensive expert testimony regarding 

the accused's mental dysfunction was sufficient to call into question his ability to 

form an intent, thus relevant to specific intent element of the offense.  Id. at 344.  

C. Ineffective Assistance in Motions Practice. 

Finally, a defense counsel’s failure in litigating motions can satisfy 

Strickland’s deficient performance prong.  See United States v. Harpole, 77 M.J. 

231, 236 (C.A.A.F. 2018).  “When a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is 

premised on counsel's failure to make a motion . . . an appellant must show that 

there is a reasonable probability that such a motion would have been meritorious.” 

Harpole, 77 M.J. at 236 (quoting United States v. McConnell, 55 M.J. 479, 482 

(C.A.A.F. 2001)). 

Argument  

Based on the facts of Appellant’s case, he was going to be convicted of 

killing his wife.  The issue for the factfinder and sentencing authority, in this case a 

military judge, was whether Appellant would be convicted of a lesser charge than 
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murder and what the appropriate sentence was for his crime.  Thus, a reasonable 

counsel would be seeking to minimize Appellant’s culpability and present 

evidence to humanize him and thus mitigate his sentence.    

The defense had the ability to present a compelling case that TBI played a 

substantial role in his murder of his wife.  As Dr. French testified, the TBI was 

“complete” at the time of the accident.  Both Dr. French and Dr. Montalbano 

would have testified how TBI could have impacted Appellant’s mental state.  Dr. 

French testified Appellant’s capacity to control his behavior, especially when 

prescribed a narcotic for a head injury, was severely diminished.  (DuBay R. 203).  

Dr. Montalbano believed TBI caused “deficits in Appellant’s executive 

functioning.”  (Def. App. A at 3).  See Witt, 72 M.J. at 758. 

But Appellant’s trial defense counsel, as all three counsel admitted, failed to 

even talk to any medical expert, let alone an expert about TBI.  (DuBay R. 14, 15, 

57, 72-73, 310-11, 317).  No counsel even talked to the expert, Dr. Galusha, they 

proffered to be their defense expert witness.   

Additionally, no counsel asked the sanity board to consider the potential for 

TBI.  (DuBay R. 13, 18, 181-82, 185-87).  Dr. McKenzie testified he was unaware 

of the head trauma that Appellant suffered in the accident.  (Dubay R. 185, 187, 

189). 
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And Dr. McKenzie would have conducted the sanity board differently if he 

had known of the extensive TBI Appellant suffered.  (DuBay R. 185-87).5  He 

testified to the additional tests and protocols he would have followed had he known 

of the TBI.  (DuBay R. 185-87).  Significantly, these additional steps correspond 

with Dr. Montalbano’s criticisms of the Appellant’s case board.  D.A.E. A. at 3.6    

Other than the fact Appellant sat in court wearing a uniform, there was 

almost no indication that he served his country.  In Boone, this Court recognized 

that even soldiers unwilling to portray an accused as “an outstanding soldier” still 

 
 

5 The Army Court’s reading of the DuBay hearing is clearly wrong.  It found 
Appellant suffered no prejudice by trial defense counsel’s failure to present 
evidence of TBI because the sanity board considered TBI.  But Dr. McKenzie, the 
president of Appellant’s sanity board, demonstrates that claim to be false.  He 
testified he did not review the Skyline records, and he testified he would have 
conducted the sanity board differently if he had.  (DuBay R. 185-87).   
6 The Army Court found that Appellant’s declination to undergo further testing was 
decisive to his ineffective assistance claim.  Memorandum Opinion at 17.  But by 
the time Appellant declined further testing, the die was cast.  The sanity board had 
already reached its findings, failing to factor in TBI because Appellant’s counsel 
failed to ask the board to consider TBI.  And as every expert testified, it most 
likely would not have mattered because TBI would have been very difficult to 
more fully diagnose so long after the accident and crime.  Finally, trial defense 
counsel did not believe Appellant had TBI because they failed to consult with any 
expert.  In Rompilla, the accused was actively obstructive to his counsel.  545 U.S. 
at 381.  The Court found Rompilla’s behavior did not diminish defense counsel’s 
responsibility to investigate Rompilla’s case.  Id.  Every expert at Appellant’s 
DuBay hearing believed Appellant had a TBI.          
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would have provided some value for rehabilitation and their absence from the trial 

satisfied the second Strickland prong.  44 M.J. at 746.  The military witnesses in 

the immediate case would have gone beyond what was missing in Boone, and may 

have shown the fact finder how Appellant was dedicated to friends and family and 

his duty as a soldier. 

Just as in Boone, there was available evidence to demonstrate that 

Appellant’s crime was out of his character.  44 M.J. at 746 (discussing how the 

potential sentencing witnesses would address “the appellant’s normally peaceful 

nature.”).  The defense did nothing to humanize Appellant.  SGT Russino, SSG 

Bouie, and Mr. Alexander would have testified favorably on behalf of Appellant.  

(DuBay R. 268, 261, 264-65).     

The trial defense counsel unreasonably investigated and presented 

Appellant’s case.  Counsel’s performance was deficient, and Appellant was 

prejudiced by that deficient performance.    

II. 

THE JUDGE WHO AUTHORED THE OPINION IN 
APPELLANT’S CASE HAD RETIRED FROM THE BENCH 
WHEN THE OPINION WAS EFFECTIVE.   



31 

 

Standard of Review 

Questions of law are reviewed de novo. United States v. Mays, 83 M.J. 277, 

279 (C.A.A.F. 2023). 

Law 

A.  The law requires a sitting judge to be in “regular active service.” 

Congress has mandated that the service courts have uniform rules.  “The 

Judge Advocates General shall prescribe uniform rules of procedure for Courts of 

Criminal Appeals.” Article 66(h), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 866 (2022).  “When sitting 

in panel, a majority of the judges assigned to that panel shall constitute a quorum.”  

Army Ct. Crim. App. R. 7(a).  A judge is in “regular active service” when the 

judge is assigned to a service court and is: 

(1) in the active component of the armed forces; (2) in the 
reserve component of the armed forces and serving on 
active duty with the Court for a period of more than 30 
consecutive days; or (3) a civilian judge who is a full-time 
employee of the agency from which appointed . . . [or] 
when a reserve component military judge who does not 
meet the above criteria is duly assigned to a matter. 

Army Ct. Crim. App. R. 7(c).  

In United States v. American-Foreign S.S. Corp, the Supreme Court vacated 

a Second Circuit decision after it determined “a circuit judge who has retired [was 

not] eligible under [28 U.S.C. § 46(c)] to participate in the decision of a case on 
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rehearing en banc.”  363 U.S. 685, 685-86 (1960) (“The sole issue presented is 

whether a circuit judge who has retired is eligible under this statute to participate in 

the decision of a case on rehearing en banc. We have concluded that he is not. . . . 

[Accordingly the] judgment must be set aside.”).  The Court said that “[a]n ‘active’ 

judge is a judge who has not retired ‘from regular active service’ [and that a] case 

or controversy is ‘determined’ when it is decided.”  Id. at 688 (citing 28 U. S. C. § 

371(b) (1954)).   

“[A] case or controversy is ‘determined’ when it is decided.”  Yovino v. 

Rizo, 586 U.S. 181, 185 (2019) (per curiam) (citing Am.-Foreign S.S. Corp, 363 

U.S. at 688).  When a circuit judge is neither in active service (e.g., due to being 

deceased or retired) nor in senior status, the judge is “without power to participate 

in the en banc court’s decision at the time was rendered.”  Id.   

In Yovino, the circuit judge who authored the majority opinion died prior to 

the decision’s publication.  Id. at 182.  Because the Ninth Circuit “deemed [the 

deceased judge’s] opinion to be a majority opinion, . . . it [would constitute] a 

precedent that all future . . . panels must follow.”  Id. at 183.  The Supreme Court 

was not aware of “any rule or decision of the Ninth Circuit that renders judges’ 

votes and opinions immutable at some point in time prior to their public release[, 

and] it is generally understood that a judge may change his or her position up to the 
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very moment when a decision is released.”  Id. at 184.  The Court found the Ninth 

Circuit’s actions in Yovino were unlawful because of the statute that applied to that 

court, 10 U.S.C. § 46(d), defined a “quorum” as “[a] majority of the number of 

judges authorized to constitute a court or panel thereof,” and the Court was “aware 

of no cases in which a court of appeals panel has purported to issue a binding 

decision that was joined at the time of release by less than a quorum of the judges 

who were alive at that time.”  Id. at 186. 

Similarly, Army Ct. Crim. App. R. 7(c) by implication requires that a judge 

be on active duty and be able to participate in the case at the time of the opinion’s 

publication.    

B.  Three-Factor Test from United States v. Uribe 

Appellate courts consider three factors to determine whether a 

disqualification error warrants a remedy:  (1) the specific injustice to the appellant; 

(2) encouragement to judges and litigants to examine possible grounds for 

disqualification more carefully and disclose them more promptly; and (3) the risk 

of undermining public confidence in the military justice system.  United States v. 

Uribe, 80 M.J. 442, 449 (concerning the recusal of a trial judge).   
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Argument 

Public perception is essential to the military justice system.  Senior Judge 

Walker should have recused herself from United States v. Forrest, given her 

retirement and follow-on employment at this Court.  Drafting an opinion and 

perhaps revoting on a case, all while on terminal leave prior to retirement and 

working for the next higher court, undermines the public perception of impartiality 

in this case.    

A.  Senior Judge Walker was not in regular active service when the Army 
Court issued the opinion. 

Only members of the Army Court who are in regular active service may be 

counted towards a quorum when sitting in panel.  Army Ct. Crim. App. R. 7(a).  A 

judge is in regular active service when assigned to a service court and meets the 

criteria listed above in Army Ct. Crim. App. R. 7(c).  At publication, Senior Judge 

Walker was not a judge assigned to the Army Court.  The Panel Composition 

Memorandum contained in Appendix B demonstrates that Senior Judge Walker 

was not assigned to the Army Court at the time of the opinion’s publication; 

indeed, she left at least several days prior, had her retirement ceremony, and was 
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employed by this Court.  (Appendix B).  Accordingly, Senior Judge Walker was 

not in regular active service when the Army Court published its opinion. 

B.  A case or controversy is determined when it is decided; Senior Judge 
Walker could not participate in the Army Court’s decision at the time of its 
publication.  

Unlike Article III appellate courts, service court judges cannot take senior 

status.  See 28 U.S.C. § 46 (1996).  To be sure, the Army Court’s opinion notes 

that Senior Judge Walker took final action on this case prior to her retirement.  

United States v. Forrest, No. ARMY 20200715, 2024 CCA LEXIS 504 (Army Ct. 

Crim. App. Nov. 22, 2024).  But the notion that “the votes and opinions in the case 

were inalterably fixed [at that time and] prior to the date on which the decision was 

‘filed,’ entered on the docket, and released to the public . . . is inconsistent with 

well-established judicial practice, federal statutory law, and judicial precedent.”  

See Yovino, 586 U.S. at 184 .  Moreover, because “a judge may change his or her 

position up to the very moment when a decision is released,” nothing “renders 

judges’ votes and opinions immutable at some point in time prior to their public 

release.”  Id.  Accordingly, because Senior Judge Walker was not on the Army 
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Court when the decision was released, she did not have the power to participate in 

the Army Court’s determination. 

C.  Senior Judge Walker’s participation during the proceedings as both the 
author of the majority opinion and her capacity as senior judge cannot be 
uncoupled from the unfavorable result for Appellant.  

Senior Judge Walker’s participation undeniably “made a difference” or was 

of “great significance” in the outcome here; it would be inappropriately speculative 

to assume the result would have been the same in her absence.  Did she participate 

in internal deliberations and circulation and editing of the opinion following her 

leaving the Army Court?  Additionally, Senior Judge Walker participated as both 

the author of the majority Army Court’s opinion and as a senior judge.  In other 

words, her participation of the senior judge and authoring the opinion—not just her 

vote—made a difference. 

D.  Application of the Three-Factor Test from United States v. Uribe.  
 
Appellate courts consider three factors to determine whether a 

disqualification error warrants a remedy: (1) specific injustice to the appellant; (2) 

encouragement to judges and litigants to examine possible grounds for 

disqualification more carefully and disclose them more promptly; and (3) risk of 

undermining public confidence in the military justice system.  Uribe at 449.  In this 

case, Senior Judge Walker’s decision to participate in the proceedings and author 
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the opinion cannot be uncoupled from the outcome of the case, directly creating a 

“specific injustice to the appellant.”  The coupling of her actions after leaving the 

bench and her follow-on employment, were too intertwined, and would reasonably 

raise doubts in the eyes of the public.   

Additionally, the Army Court should have examined the possible grounds 

for disqualification more carefully and disclosed them more promptly by not 

permitting the Senior Judge to vote and draft the opinion for this case.  Even 

though retired and working in her follow-on position at the next higher court, she 

had the ability to change her mind up until publication of the opinion.  Senior 

Judge Walker, as senior judge, should not have been able to influence the panel, let 

alone be the author of the opinion.   

Lastly, the very fact that the Army Court had to footnote Senior Judge 

Walker “took action in this case prior to her retirement” shows a risk of 

undermining public confidence in the Army court, as well as the military justice 

system.  When Senior Judge Walker began her terminal leave and working for this 

Court but could still influence an opinion being drafted by a subservient court, a 

reasonable member of the public, with knowledge based on the information and 

belief at that time, could believe the system lacks impartiality.  

 



38 

 

Conclusion 

 For the foregoing reasons, Appellant respectfully requests this Court 

vacate the Army Court’s decision and order a re-hearing on both findings and 

sentence for Issue I, or, alternatively, order a new appellate review. 
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Appendix A:  United States Army Court of Criminal Appeals Opinion of the 

Court in United States v. Forrest, Army Case No. 20200715 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 







































 

 

 

Appendix B:  Army Court Panel Composition Memorandum 
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